



In re Sanctuary Belize Litigation 18-cv-3309 (D. Md.) (PX)

Receiver Report of Activities for the Period May 1, 2025 to August 31, 2025

Submitted: October 7, 2025



TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Executive Summary]
II.	The Sale of the Belize Development Area Assets	
	A. The RFP Process, Sale Recommendation and Sale Authorization Order	
	B. The Closing of the Sale	6
	C. Allocation and Distribution of Redress Payments	8
III.	Winding Down Belize Operations and Facilitating the Transfer of Ownership Responsibiliti to FBIM	
IV.	The Sale of the Missouri Land Parcel	10
V.	Lot Choice Survey Outcomes & Coordination	11
VI.	Customer Support Engagement	13
VII.	Accounting and Financial Statements	13
VIII.	Court Proceedings	16
IX.	Conclusion	18



I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Marc-Philip Ferzan of Ankura Consulting Group, LLC (the "Receiver") respectfully submits this report to the United States District Court for the District of Maryland (the "District Court" or "Court") to provide an update regarding relevant receivership administration and oversight activities that occurred over the four-month reporting period from May 1, 2025 through August 31, 2025 (the "Reporting Period"), unless otherwise indicated. During the Reporting Period, the Receivership Team, in accordance with the Court's June 14, 2023 Order Implementing Next Phase of Consumer Redress (the "June 2023 Redress Order") and May 13, 2025 Order Granting Receiver's Amended Motion for, among other things, Approval of Sale of Real Property Commonly Referred to as Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik (the "Sale Authorization Order"), consummated the sale of the Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik assets to First Belizean Investment Market Ltd. ("FBIM") and continued to advance other priority redress initiatives.

Leading up to the closing for the transfer of the Belize assets to FBIM on June 26, 2025, the Receivership Team closely coordinated with Belize legal counsel and Closing Agent for the sale transaction -- Barrow & Williams -- to satisfy an array of contractual, legal and administrative obligations. Following extensive efforts, including analysis of land and tax records, development of title abstracts, preparation of more than 30 separate instruments of transfer with accompanying land descriptions (to account for more than 18,000 acres of corresponding real estate), drafting of cancellations of mortgage, and engagement with various government instrumentalities, the sales

¹ Periodic receivership progress reporting for the benefit of the Court and stakeholders generally covers fourmonth intervals over the calendar year. Accordingly, unless circumstances dictate otherwise, one more progress report is contemplated for the 2025 calendar year.

² All capitalized terms that are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Redress Plan and/or the Court's orders.



transaction contemplated a total purchase price of \$20,500,000 under terms and conditions set forth in the contract. Of this amount, \$16,800,000 was allocated for the purchase of Sanctuary Belize assets and \$3,700,000 was allocated for the purchase of the Kanantik assets.

Upon closing, FBIM assumed all duties, responsibilities and liabilities associated with Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik, and the Receivership Team commenced efforts to wind down Belize operations and responsibilities. Among other things, the Receivership Team, in coordination with Belize legal counsel and local staff: (i) terminated the employees of the receivership entities, rendered severance payments to personnel in accordance with Belizean legal mandates, and made payments to and filings with government instrumentalities as necessary; (ii) arranged to transfer or cancel active licenses and registrations (including those for water extraction, mining, firearms, automobiles and boats); (iii) transitioned essential utilities that were previously delivered in the name of the receivership entities (including electricity, phone and internet); (iv) concluded insurance policies; (v) satisfied remaining land taxes and other Belize government payment obligations; and (vi) reconciled and paid outstanding vendor invoices. As a result of the closing and transfer of ownership, the receivership estate has been relieved of the substantial expenses associated with operations in Belize and the maintenance of the expansive real estate holdings.

In furtherance of completing its responsibilities, the Receivership Team also: (i) made available to FBIM the names, contact information, Claim Application determinations and other relevant consumer information to help facilitate the new company's engagement with consumers who may have interest in considering a potential future purchase of a lot consistent with the terms of the Sale Authorization Order; (ii) obtained Court approval to sell a small, undeveloped receivership Missouri land parcel titled in the name of Prodigy Management Group, LLC for the amount of \$28,250 (as reflected in the Court's August 20, 2025 Order Granting Motion for Order



Approving the Sale of Unimproved Real Property Commonly Known as 3154 Buckeye Circle, Cape Girardeau, Missouri); and (iii) coordinated with legal counsel regarding ongoing Court proceedings.

Over the coming weeks, in consultation with the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), the Receivership Team will allocate proposed redress amounts for eligible Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers and seek the Court's approval through a motion filing to make corresponding redress payments on a pro rata basis. Factoring in Court review and required administration efforts, it is anticipated that these redress payments to both Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers will be initiated before the end of the 2025 calendar year. The Receivership Team will continue to keep consumers informed of relevant developments through: (i) updates to the receivership website (www.SanctuaryBelizeReceivership.com), which also includes a multitude of resources such as Frequently Asked Questions ("FAQs") and relevant Court filings; (ii) emails to consumers; and (iii) other direct engagement through live customer support personnel. To the extent that consumers have questions concerning the Belize developments and/or future potential opportunities to acquire lots, they should contact FBIM through Matt Medoruma at mmedoruma@mainst.biz. If consumers have other receivership-related questions after reviewing communications and reference materials available on the receivership website, dedicated representatives will remain available over email (help@SanctuaryBelizeLotSurvey.com).

II. THE SALE OF THE BELIZE DEVELOPMENT AREA ASSETS

The Court's June 2023 Redress Order directed redress initiatives that included: (i) the Request for Proposals bidding process ("RFP") to market and sell the Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik development areas; and (ii) administration of the Lot Choice Survey for eligible consumers.



A. The RFP Process, Sale Recommendation and Sale Authorization Order

As previously reported, following an extensive RFP process that was initiated on May 29, 2024, the Receivership Team and CBRE evaluated multiple qualifying offers submitted during the RFP bidding process by, among other things, convening interviews with bidders to review the terms of their proposals, discuss relevant information regarding their background and experience, and address questions related to the properties, the receivership, Court proceedings, and the RFP process. In addition to quantitative considerations, each of the bids was evaluated across other qualitative criteria, including: (i) scope of the offer for some or all of the assets and related financial aspects of bids; (ii) real estate development project experience; (iii) real estate development management and operations experience (including in Belize); (iv) status and source of funding for the purchase; (v) existence of bid contingencies (or lack thereof); (vi) understanding of receivership sale on a "where-is, as-is" basis, without representations or warranties; (vii) consideration of potential accommodations for existing residents;³ (viii) consideration of potential accommodations for future lot purchasers; (ix) escrow amount; (x) professionalism and responsiveness; and (xi) understanding of Belize legal and regulatory environment, United States Court process and RFP administration requirements.⁴

³ This category included consideration of the bidder's plans to provide, among other things, 24-hour security, power and water hookups, and roadway maintenance, as well as the bidder's intent to follow existing subdivision plans, maintain some form of covenants, conditions, restrictions and easements, and operate a property owners' association.

⁴ Based on available information following the administration of the Lot Choice Survey, it is the Receivership Team's expectation that at least some consumers will be interested in purchasing lots from FBIM. However, a significant number of victims will likely never pursue lots in Belize and will, therefore, only receive redress payments. Accordingly, in evaluating bids, the Receivership Team balanced the objectives of maximizing sale proceeds for redress payments and crediting potential future lot purchase accommodations.



After diligently administering the RFP process with the support of CBRE, the Receivership Team, in a February 3, 2025 filing, made its preliminary recommendation to the Court that the Belize assets be approved for sale to FBIM, subject only to a required statutory overbid and sales notice process. Following the completion of the overbidding process under 28 U.S.C. § 2001, on March 10, 2025, the Receivership Team made its final recommendation that the sale of the Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik assets be made to FBIM for a total purchase price of \$20,500,000 -- \$16,800,000 for the specified Sanctuary Belize assets, and \$3,700,000 for the specified Kanantik assets -- subject to the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement and any price adjustments as may be necessary pursuant to the requirements therein.

As described in the Receiver's motion and February 28, 2025 Report, FBIM is a newly-established, dedicated Belize company that was formed to consummate the purchase of the receivership's Belize assets and support their redevelopment. FBIM is solely owned by Ambergris Caye Real Estate Development Company Limited ("ACRED"), which was established in Belize approximately 25 years ago and has successfully developed large-scale projects in Belize for residential and commercial use. One of the principals of ACRED is the Founder, President & CEO of Mainstreet Equity Corporation, a publicly traded real estate company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, which primarily focuses on the acquisition and redevelopment of residential properties.⁵ Notably, and among other things, this same individual was appointed the Honorary Consul General⁶ of Belize for Canada in 1999.

⁵ As of the end of the second quarter of 2025, Mainstreet Equity Corporation reported that its assets include in excess of 18,500 rental units across western Canada, valued at more than CDN \$3.6 billion. *See* https://assets.rentsync.com/mainstreet/documents/1754516722866 Q3 2025.pdf (last visited 9/29/25).

⁶ As a general matter, the role of a Canadian Honorary Consul General involves representing the cross-border interests of the designated foreign country.



As further detailed in the Receiver's February 28, 2025 Report, the recommendation to the Court that FBIM be approved as the purchaser of the Belize assets was based on the comparative strength of its offer across the quantitative and qualitative evaluation criteria outlined above. While all bids were carefully evaluated and methodically considered, the Receiver concluded that FBIM's offer was the strongest to achieve the multi-faceted goals of the receivership -- which include generating sales proceeds to support redress payments for eligible consumers, enabling redevelopment for Belize residents, and facilitating other priorities tied to the interests of the diverse stakeholders in this matter. Notably, the proposed sale is also consistent with the stated objectives of the Belize government -- i.e., stabilizing the development areas, restoring confidence, and benefitting the local community through employment and other economic activity. The Purchase Agreement, including an overview of its key terms, is contained in the Receivership Team's February 3, 2025 Court filing accessible on the Receiver's website (www.SanctuaryBelizeReceivership.com) and through this link.

On May 12, 2025, the Court convened a hearing on the Receivership Team's motion for approval of the sale to FBIM and, on May 13, 2025, issued the Sale Authorization Order. The Sale Authorization Order may be accessed on the landing page of the receivership website at www.SanctuaryBelizeReceivership.com, and may also be accessed directly through this link.

B. The Closing of the Sale

The Receivership Team closely coordinated with legal counsel in the United States and Belize to advance the required closing responsibilities and finalize transfer documentation and other required government engagement and submissions. Indeed, the majority of the pre-closing efforts was undertaken by the Receivership Team's Belize law firm, Barrow & Williams, which also served as the designated Closing Agent for the transaction. Among other things, the firm's efforts



included: (i) conducting title investigations and preparing title abstracts associated with more than 30 distinct land parcels that made up the more than 18,000 acres of property being transferred; (ii) drafting instruments of transfer and comprehensive land descriptions for each of those parcels; (iii) preparing and filing cancellations of mortgage to address land encumbrance notations; and (iv) analyzing severance payment obligations for approximately 80 terminated Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik employees in accordance with Belize law.⁷

The closing of the transaction occurred on June 26, 2025 in Belize City at the law offices of Barrow & Williams. While the duties, responsibilities and liabilities for the Belize real estate were immediately transferred to FBIM upon closing, there were a multitude of additional obligations required by the Purchase Agreement and Belize law post-closing. The post-closing obligations, which were primarily carried out by Barrow & Williams at the direction of the Receivership Team, included, among other things:

- resolving remaining land tax obligations, which involved the review, analysis, reconciliation and payment of approximately 1,000 land tax assessments and procurement of corresponding zero balance statements;
- filing, lodging and recording executed closing documents with the Belize Lands Registry and Land Titles Unit;
- meetings with, and application to, the Registrar of Lands and other government instrumentalities in furtherance of the lodging of Transfer Certificates of Title and Deeds of Conveyance, as well as the formal removal of historical encumbrance notations;
- procuring Certificates of Cessation of Charges and Deeds of Cancellation of Mortgage from the Registrar of Companies and Registrar of Lands, respectively; and
- rendering payment of closing fees, costs and expenses to government

⁷ The Receivership Team retained a few former members of the management and administrative team as independent contractors on a short-term basis following the closing to facilitate the orderly transition of essential services and the wind down of Belize operations.



instrumentalities as required under Belize law.

In meeting these obligations, the Receivership Team worked closely with Barrow & Williams personnel to enable compliance with Belizean legal and regulatory requirements, which, in a number of instances, required analysis of complex procedural and practical issues of first impression in Belize brought about by the breadth of the real estate transaction, the underlying fraud scheme and history of the receivership, multi-jurisdictional considerations, and other factors.

C. Allocation and Distribution of Redress Payments

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Purchase Agreement and Escrow Agreement, \$19,000,000 of the \$20,500,000 in sale proceeds was transferred to the receivership estate from the parties' escrow account on July 3, 2025 and, following the reconciliation of remaining issues, the balance of \$1,500,000 was transferred from the escrow account to the receivership estate on August 13, 2025. Over the next reporting period, in consultation with the FTC, the Receivership Team will allocate proposed redress amounts for eligible Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers and seek the Court's approval through a motion filing to make corresponding redress payments on a *pro rata* basis. Factoring in Court review and required administration efforts, it is anticipated that these redress payments to both Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers will be initiated before December 31, 2025. To the extent feasible, the Receivership Team will endeavor to complete all remaining Receivership responsibilities and, ultimately, seek the Court's authorization to dissolve the receivership estate by the end of 2025, or within the first quarter of 2026.

⁸ As part of this process, the Receivership Team will reconcile all financial obligations and consider historical creditor claims in connection with presenting its analysis and recommendation to the Court.



III. WINDING DOWN BELIZE OPERATIONS AND FACILITATING THE TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP RESPONSIBILITIES TO FBIM

Leading up to the closing of the sales transaction, the Receivership Team generally maintained Belize staffing levels in accordance with the right-sizing initiatives that were implemented in the first quarter of 2022, and otherwise continued to conserve receivership assets while meeting the requirements of the Court's controlling orders. As previously mentioned, the duties, responsibilities and liabilities for the Belize real estate were immediately transferred to FBIM upon closing. However, the efforts to conclude Belize operations following the closing were significant and included the following:

- coordinating the termination of all employees of the Belize receivership entities, including the rendering of severance payouts based on length of service and wages for each employee in accordance with Belizean law;
- transferring or canceling active licenses and registrations, including for water extraction, mining, firearms, automobiles and boats;
- transitioning essential services that were previously delivered in the name of the receivership entities, including electricity, phone and internet;
- managing and concluding insurance policies;⁹
- reconciling payment of outstanding vendor invoices;
- validating and completing the payment of remaining tax obligations, including property, corporate and employment taxes; and
- engaging with the Belize government to facilitate the transfer of assets and dissolution of the relevant corporate entities.

With the termination of staff and the complete transfer of operations and maintenance responsibilities to FBIM, the receivership estate has been relieved of the substantial carrying costs

⁹ A brief extension of the general liability insurance policy for the Kanantik development area was required to ensure coverage through the closing date.



associated with maintaining the property, which averaged approximately \$155,000 per month since January 2023.¹⁰

IV. THE SALE OF THE MISSOURI LAND PARCEL

In furtherance of receivership wind down activities, the Receivership Team also sought and obtained Court approval to sell a 0.29 acre lot of unimproved receivership real estate located in Missouri for the amount of \$28,250. Title to the property was previously held in the name of Prodigy Management Group LLC ("Prodigy") -- a receivership entity. Pursuant to a series of orders entered against defendant, Luke Chadwick, Mr. Chadwick was required to turn over to the receivership all legal and equitable interests in Prodigy as well its assets.

In accordance with the Court's August 20, 2025 Order Granting Motion for Order

Approving the Sale of Unimproved Real Property Commonly Known as 3154 Buckeye Circle,

Cape Girardeau, Missouri, the Receiver was authorized to complete the sale of the property on a

"where is, as is" basis without any warranties or representations. The Order further provided that
the purchase was an arm's length transaction and that the purchase price of \$28,250 was fair,
reasonable, and in the best interests of the receivership estate. On September 18, 2025, the
receivership estate executed the closing documents and, on September 26, 2025, \$25,938.22 in sale
proceeds (factoring in certain prorations, adjustments and charges) was transferred to the
receivership estate. These sale proceeds will be included in the allocation of redress payments to
consumers.

¹⁰ As mentioned above, the Receivership Team retained a few key Belize personnel as contractors on a temporary basis to facilitate the orderly transition of Belize operations.



V. LOT CHOICE SURVEY OUTCOMES & COORDINATION

As previously reported, the Lot Choice Survey was distributed by email on April 8, 2024, and consumers generally had through July 8, 2024 to review their lot choice options and consider other relevant factors in making their selection for each eligible lot. In accordance with the June 2023 Redress Order, each eligible consumer was afforded the opportunity to select one of three options:

- Acquire their lot(s) and proceed to finalize the purchase, to the extent that title to the property was available to be transferred, in advance of the RFP process being completed ("Option No. 1");¹¹
- Defer the decision of whether to acquire their lot(s), or a new a lot, until after completion of the RFP bidding process and Court approval of a potential sale of some or all of the Belize assets -- to the extent that an investor or developer may choose to offer lots for sale to consumers under terms and conditions that are acceptable to them ("Option No. 2"); or
- Decline to acquire their lot(s) and waive all rights to acquire a lot at any time in the future as part of any Court-approved redress ("Option No. 3").

The survey also allowed consumers believing that they already hold title to their lot to provide notice to the Receivership Team accordingly for review and feedback. Of course, consumers with title to a lot were instructed that they were not required to choose from Option Nos. 1, 2 or 3.

¹¹ Despite the express requirements of the June 2023 Redress Order, one consumer challenged, among other things, whether Option No. 1 should have been included in the Lot Choice Survey because some lots, including those in Kanantik, were ultimately unable to be transferred. The Receivership Team moved to dismiss the complaint with prejudice -- which remains pending -- on the basis that the assertions in the complaint are contrary to: (i) the express language of the June 2023 Redress Order, which stated that Option No. 1 would be offered "subject to the permissibility of such transactions pursuant to Belize legal and regulatory requirements, encumbrances, competing claims, and other relevant considerations that may preclude transferability"; and (ii) the clear and extensive communications and disclosures to consumers advising that they may ultimately not be able to acquire their lot under Option No. 1 due to various potential transfer limitations.



In administering the Lot Choice Survey, the Receivership Team helped facilitate closings for Sanctuary Belize consumers ¹² who selected Option No. 1 and were eligible to complete the buy out of their lot in accordance with the requirements of the June 2023 Redress Order. ¹³ As mentioned above, with respect to Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers who either selected or were assigned Option No. 2 (and may still be interested in acquiring a Belize development area lot), the Sale Authorization Order required the Receivership Team to provide to FBIM, following the closing, their names, contact information, Claim Application determinations and other relevant information. Accordingly, on July 25, 2025, the Receivership Team transmitted to FBIM the relevant information for Option No. 2 consumers to facilitate the transfer of operations and potential engagement with those consumers who may be seeking to acquire a lot. ¹⁴

The terms and conditions of any potential lot offerings are entirely at the discretion of FBIM and could include incentives such as discounts and potential financing for qualified borrowers.

¹² As previously reported, although government land records reflect that the Mango Springs subdivision of Kanantik received certain Belizean government approvals, other complicating factors were identified impacting the transferability of the individual lots, including the existence of encumbrances on the underlying land parcels, the lack of boundary surveys (which the defendants failed to complete), administrative lapses relating to the underlying land parcels in the Belize Land Titles Register, and the lack of recognition of the subdivided lots by the Belize taxing authority. Consequently, all Kanantik consumers electing Option No. 1 were subsequently provided notice that, due to the factors impacting transferability, and after considering the anticipated timetables, costs, and uncertainties, as well as other receivership priorities, the Court agreed with the Receiver and FTC's joint recommendation that the Receiver should not attempt to transfer the Kanantik lots in accordance with the June 2023 Redress Order.

¹³ The Receivership Team also accommodated certain individuals who did not participate in the Claim Application process, but separately contacted the Receivership Team to express interest in acquiring their lots. To the extent the lots were deemed available for transfer, these individuals were able to complete sales under their original contracts, proceed to closings, and seek to acquire title.

¹⁴ The Receivership Team has been advised by Belize legal counsel that it may take several months before the Belize government issues new Transfer Certificates of Title and other documents formally memorializing FBIM's ownership of the Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik development areas. The timing of the issuance of the relevant government documents could impact when FBIM is in a position to initiate outreach and/or engage in conversations with consumers concerning the availability of lots.



Consumers with questions concerning potential opportunities to acquire lots are encouraged to contact FBIM through Matt Medoruma at mmedoruma@mainst.biz.

VI. CUSTOMER SUPPORT ENGAGEMENT

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Receivership Team continued to make available customer support resources to assist consumers with questions regarding the redress program and other receivership activities. The Receivership Team also provided status updates through the Receivership website, which includes an overview of recent developments, FAQs and relevant Court filings. Over the Reporting Period, the survey administrator received and responded to more than 100 inquiries regarding the survey process and related redress matters. In addition, the Receivership Team addressed approximately 50 other consumer inquiries concerning topics that included future redress payments, reformed contract closings, land taxes, as well as other matters that required escalation by the survey administrator.

VII. ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial data reflected in the statements below show the current net assets in the receivership estate, as well as net recoveries after expenses through August 31, 2025, unless otherwise specified. The operating expenses of Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik¹⁵ are generally recorded on a cash basis as payments are approved and issued. Over the four-month Reporting Period, the Receivership Team continued to roll over its cash holdings into subsequent monthly, interest-bearing timed deposits. By doing so, the receivership estate generated additional income

¹⁵ As provided in the Final Order Concerning Kanantik, the Court ruled that the entities and corresponding land that comprise Kanantik are receivership assets. The Receiver conserved, managed and preserved the Kanantik development area for the benefit of consumers, despite the historical lack of liquid Kanantik assets to support operations and maintenance costs. Consequently, related costs incurred in connection with addressing Kanantik responsibilities were satisfied by applying other receivership estate funds. As reflected in the tables in this Section of the Report, the Receivership Team accounted for Kanantik and Sanctuary Belize expenditures separately.



associated with its cash holdings, including from the sale of the Belize assets, resulting in earned and accrued interest during the Reporting Period of \$222,040.¹⁶

Below are the Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Net Recoveries for the four-month Reporting Period.

¹⁶ The receivership estate has also received in excess of \$900,000, net of associated expenses, in additional potential revenue from the receipt of principal payments made by consumers who elected to proceed to closing on their lots. Because there can be governmental delays associated with the processing of title transfers, the Court's December 28, 2023 Order provides that those consumers who proceed to closing but do not receive title within six months will have the right to cancel their reformed contracts and obtain a refund of any additional principal payments they made at closing, subject to certain conditions set forth in the Order.



In re Sanctuary Belize Receivership Statement of Net Assets

			As of August 31, 2025		
Assets:					
Cash		\$	30,570,440		
Accrued interest on timed deposit	(1)		18,060		
Total assets		\$	30,588,499		
Liabilities:					
Allocated redress payment distribution per June 14, 2023 Court Order	(2)	\$	76,229		
Ankura professional fees and expenses	(3)		224,023		
Barnes & Thornburg professional fees and expenses	(3)		51,099		
Mojdehi Galvin Rego professional fees and expenses	(3)		29,253		
Other accounts payable			70,958		
Total liabilities			451,562		
Net assets available		\$	30,136,937		
Funds in escrow	(4)	\$	_		

Footnotes:

- (1) In April 2024, the Receiver transferred \$10.63 million to a Citibank Timed Deposit account with an interest rate of 4.6% and a maturity date of September 3, 2024. On the maturity date, the receivership estate received the \$10,670,443 deposit plus interest of \$42,826.15. Starting on September 3, 2024, the Receiver began rolling over the balance in the timed deposit account plus interest earned on a monthly basis. From May 2025 to August 2025, the timed deposit account earned interest at a rate that ranged between 3.31% and 3.37%. The amount reported in this schedule is the calculated interest accrued on this timed deposit as of August 31, 2025.
- (2) This liability accounts for redress payments that were issued but had not yet been accepted by consumers as of August 31, 2025, in addition to holdbacks for Post-Filing Transferee claims that were ultimately determined to be ineligible by the Court.
- (3) These amounts payable reflect the pending fee application requests relating to Ankura, Barnes & Thomburg, and Mojdehi Galvin Rego invoices as of August 31, 2025 in accord with the guidelines set forth in the Court's June 18, 2024 Order Regarding Billing Guidelines for the Receiver and its Counsel. Pursuant to the Order, a 10% holdback is also applied in connection with fee application requests and accounted for as a payable until the Court considers the holdback amounts as part of a final fee request submitted at the close of the receivership.
- (4) In connection with the sale of the Belize assets, the Receiver entered into an escrow agreement with FBIM to hold the earnest money deposit for the purchase while the closing was pending. A total of \$19,000,000 of the \$20,500,000 in sale proceeds was transferred to the receivership estate from the escrow account on July 3, 2025 and the balance of \$1,500,000 was transferred to the receivership estate from the escrow account on August 13, 2025. Accordingly, as of August 31, 2025, all funds that were previously held in the escrow account had been disbursed.



In re Sanctuary Belize Receivership Statement of Net Recoveries

	For the Period May 1, 2025 to August 31, 2025		From Inception to August 31, 2025	
Recoveries:				
Atlantic International Bank settlement	(1) \$	-	\$	23,000,000
Previously reported recoveries		-		20,786,502
Belize Property Assets Sale		20,500,000		20,500,000
Consumer Lot Purchases		-		1,000,168
Other collections		11,188		1,237,449
Interest income		222,040		1,480,982
Total recoveries	9	20,733,228	\$	68,005,101
Disbursements:				
Redress payment distributions	(2)	-	\$	9,966,090
Expenses:				
Sanctuary Belize operating expenses				
Payroll	\$	362,139	\$	6,205,403
Equipment, maintenance, and supplies		45,725		3,003,715
Employment taxes		77,274		1,009,051
Property taxes and other government payments		211,041		562,656
General, administrative, and other expenses		31,513		1,262,134
Legal fees and costs		45,050		756,467
Total Sanctuary Belize operating expenses		772,741		12,799,428
Kanantik operating expenses				
Payroll		6,005		431,075
Equipment, maintenance, and supplies		290		66,590
Employment taxes		-		44,422
Property taxes and other government payments		-		100,572
General, administrative, and other expenses		6,389		201,243
Legal fees and costs		=		45,197
Total Kanantik operating expenses		12,685		889,100
Real estate property expenses		780		1,811,981
Corporate entity expenses		=		80,859
Other expenses	(3)	937,273		1,395,393
Receiver fees and expenses				
Ankura fees and expenses		153,955		5,094,781
REA fees and expenses		-		2,847,275
Barnes & Thornburg fees and expenses		24,280		2,829,937
Mojdehi Galvin Rego fees and expenses		27,811		42,236
Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer fees and expenses		-		111,084
Total receiver fees and expenses	_	206,046		10,925,313
Total distributions & expenses		1,929,525		37,868,164
Net recoveries/ (distributions & expenses)	9	18,803,703	\$	30,136,937

Footnotes

⁽¹⁾ On October 19, 2023, the Court entered an order permitting the Receiver to use: (i) all interest that has accrued or will accrue on the Atlantic International Bank Limited ("AIBL") funds for the payment of any expenses of the receivership estate; and (ii) up to \$2 million of the principal of the AIBL funds for the payment of expenses of the receivership estate. Further, on November 11, 2024, the Court entered an order permitting the Receiver to use: (i) all interest that has accrued or will accrue on the AIBL funds for the payment of any expenses of the receivership estate; and (ii) up to \$2 million of additional principal AIBL funds for the payment of expenses of the receivership estate. As of August 31, 2025, approximately \$3,400,000 of the AIBL principal funds had been allocated for expenses (taking into account accrued liabilities).

⁽²⁾ Under the Court's June 2023 Order, \$10 million was allocated for Sanctuary Belize consumer redress payments, and an aggregate of \$9,889,861.09 was transferred to eligible beneficiaries as of August 31, 2025.

⁽³⁾ Other expenses include a commission payment made to CBRE related to the sale of the Belize property assets, costs for customer support services provided by vendor Rust Consulting, as well as payments for records storage.



VIII. COURT PROCEEDINGS

Over the Reporting Period, the Receivership Team continued to coordinate with its United States counsel regarding ongoing legal proceedings. An overview of the current status of relevant Court matters is set forth below.

Criminal Conviction and Sentencing of Andris Pukke

- As previously reported, on July 10, 2024, a jury returned verdicts of guilty on each of the two counts in the indictment charging Mr. Pukke with wire fraud and obstruction of an official proceeding, respectively.
- On September 9, 2024, Mr. Pukke filed a motion for judgment of acquittal or new trial, which the Court denied on July 25, 2025.
- Mr. Pukke's sentencing, which was previously scheduled for May 2, 2025, was adjourned to allow briefing on the amount of loss attributable to the wire fraud conviction. The parties filed their respective briefs and the Court convened oral argument in early July 2025.
- On September 22, 2025, the Court sentenced Mr. Pukke to 8 years in prison, with 3 years of supervised release. Mr. Pukke is to begin service of his sentence by November 3, 2025. In addition, the Court ordered Mr. Pukke to forfeit \$9.912,396.¹⁸

¹⁷ Mr. Pukke's counsel obtained a Court order authorizing service of a subpoena for receivership records pertaining to the issue of loss amount. To ensure the confidentiality of consumer information, the Receivership Team, prior to responding to the subpoena, obtained a Protective Order that, among other things, limited production of any responsive documents to Mr. Pukke's counsel, the government and authorized Court personnel -- while prohibiting disclosure to Mr. Pukke himself and/or any unauthorized third parties. In accordance with the Court order and subpoena, the Receivership Team timely produced responsive records to Mr. Pukke's counsel, subject to the conditions set forth in the Protective Order. In addition, the Receivership Team complied with separate information requests related to the loss amount from the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of New York (the "U.S. Attorney's Office"), in accordance with governing Court orders requiring cooperation with reasonable requests for information or assistance from law enforcement agencies.

¹⁸ The U.S. Attorney's Office stated in a September 23, 2025 press release that Mr. Pukke stole nearly \$10 million from Sanctuary Belize for, among other things, the purchase and renovation of a waterfront home, the repayment of a personal loan, personal investments in startup companies, child support payments, purchase of land in the Bahamas, and payments to family and friends. The press release recognized the FTC for the assistance it provided with the case and noted that consumer victims sent nearly two hundred letters to the Court describing the harm they endured.



• On September 25, 2025, Mr. Pukke filed a notice of appeal of his conviction and sentence.

United States Court of Federal Claims Proceeding

- On July 3, 2023, certain of the defendants filed a complaint in the United States Court of Federal Claims alleging that the United States government "illegally exacted" assets from them in connection with the proceedings before the District Court.
- On September 29, 2023, the United States filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on the basis that the Court of Federal Claims lacks jurisdiction to hear the case and, even if it did have jurisdiction, the complaint does not state a valid claim for illegal exaction.
- On September 9, 2024, the Court of Federal Claims granted the United States's motion to dismiss.
- On September 13, 2024, the defendants filed a Notice of Appeal. The appeal has been fully briefed, but oral argument has not yet been scheduled.

IX. CONCLUSION

Over the Reporting Period, the Receivership Team, working closely with United States and Belize legal counsel, consummated the sale of Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik and transitioned all duties, responsibilities and liabilities associated with the development areas to FBIM. Following the closing, the Receivership Team made substantial progress winding down the Belize receivership entities and will continue those efforts in the upcoming reporting period, culminating in the anticipated dissolution of the corporations. Over the coming weeks, the Receivership Team, in consultation with the FTC, will allocate proposed redress amounts for eligible Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers and seek the Court's approval through a motion filing to make corresponding redress payments on a *pro rata* basis. Factoring in Court review and required administration efforts, it is anticipated that these redress payments to both Sanctuary Belize and Kanantik consumers will be initiated before the end of the 2025 calendar year. Consumers will continue to



be informed about the status of pertinent developments, including the timing of anticipated redress payments, through receivership website updates, reporting, emails, and other direct consumer communications.

By:_

Marc-Philip Ferzan

Receiver

Submitted: October 7, 2025